STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

ORIGINAL

Certiorari to Charleston County

Honorable William H. Seals, Circuit Court Judge

JAMES R. ROSE,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-002052

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Robert M. Dudek
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

1.

Whether the PCR court erred by ruling defense counsel was not ineffective for failing to request a jury instruction on alibi where petitioner testified he had been at the decedent's drug dealer's house earlier in the evening but that he was at home with his girlfriend, Amber Wiley, at the time the murder was alleged to be committed, since this testimony that petitioner was *elsewhere* at the time the crime was committed mandated an alibi instruction if it had been requested?

2.

Whether the PCR court erred by finding that defense counsel did not think that Amber Wiley's statement that she was with petitioner, at home, on the night of the murder constituted an alibi, since there was no evidence to support that finding, and where it was undisputed Wiley provided law enforcement with that alibi statement, since counsel was ineffective in not taking reasonable efforts to subpoena Wiley to ensure her presence as an alibi witness at petitioner's trial?

STATEMENT

Petitioner was indicted at the June 11, 2012 term of the Charleston County Grand Jury for the offense of murder. The indictment alleged that petitioner “did kill and murder Leland Shannon by means of shooting the victim . . .” App. 798. Petitioner’s case was called to trial on December 9, 2013, before the Honorable Stephanie McDonald, and a jury. Martha Kent Runey and Megan Ehrlich represented petitioner. Jennifer Shealy and Jessica Baldwin were the assistant solicitors. App. 1.

On December 12, 2013, the jury found petitioner guilty of murder. App. 666, ll. 19-23. Judge McDonald sentenced petitioner to life imprisonment. App. 675, ll. 14-15.

Petitioner was represented on appeal by Appellate Defender Susan Hackett. She filed a final brief of appellant in the Court of Appeals on petitioner’s behalf on December 18, 2014. App. 678 – 696. Appellate counsel raised the issue that “the trial judge erred in admitting telephone calls reportedly made by Appellant while in pre-trial incarceration because Appellant made no ‘admissions’ during the calls as required by the Rules of Evidence in order to be admissible.” App. 681.

Petitioner’s conviction was affirmed by the Court of Appeals on June 17, 2015. See State v. James R. Rose, 2015-UP-286 (June 17, 2015).

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on July 7, 2015. App. 697 – 703. Petitioner raised various allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel including ineffectiveness as to alibi. App. 699 – 700.

The state filed a return requesting an evidentiary hearing dated February 16, 2016. App. 704 – 709. An evidentiary hearing was convened on January 10, 2017, before the Honorable William Seals. James Falk represented petitioner. Alicia Olive was the assistant attorney

general. App. 712. The witnesses during the post-conviction hearing were trial counsel Martha Kent Runey, petitioner James R. Rose, and appellant counsel Susan Hackett. App. 713.

An order of dismissal was filed on September 15, 2017. This order noted that petitioner alleged: “Failure to present an alibi defense, call witnesses in support of an alibi defense, and failure to request an alibi instruction”. App. 785 – 786. The PCR court ruled inter alia, that defense counsel was not ineffective for failing to secure the presence of alibi witness Amber Wiley, who gave a statement to the police that petitioner was home during the time of the murder. App. 785 – 786. The Court also incorrectly ruled that defense counsel did not think Amber Wiley’s statement would establish an alibi, and ruled petitioner could prove ineffectiveness because Amber was not called as a witness at PCR even though it was undisputed she gave law enforcement a statement corroborating petitioner’s alibi. App. 786.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The PCR court erred by ruling defense counsel was not ineffective for failing to request a jury instruction on alibi where petitioner testified he had been at the decedent's drug dealer's house earlier in the evening but that he was at home with his girlfriend, Amber Wiley, at the time the murder was alleged to be committed, since this testimony that petitioner was *elsewhere* at the time the crime was committed mandated an alibi instruction if it had been requested.

Trial Facts

Ishmal Weston was a seventeen-year-old high school student when he testified at petitioner's trial. App. 158, l. 25 – 159, l. 9. Weston knew the decedent, Leland Shannon, Julio. App. 159, ll. 23-25. Weston said he often went over to the decedent's house to play video games. Weston knew petitioner. App. 161, ll. 23-25.

On January 23, 2012, Weston said he saw petitioner, Onyx, over at the decedent's house. App. 163, ll. 7-8. Weston said petitioner was with "some white boy." App. 163, ll. 9-15. Weston speculated that when petitioner was talking to the decedent that the decedent would not sell petitioner marijuana because he did not have enough money to buy it. App. 163, l. 21 – 165, l. 1.

Petitioner would later testify that he sold marijuana, and he acknowledged that the decedent, Leland Shannon, sold him drugs. App. 554, l. 4 – 555, l. 23. Petitioner recalled that earlier that fatal night the decedent wanted to sell him "20 grams \$120. And I told him I wasn't paying for no weed like that because the weed was brown and don't nobody like to smoke brown reefer. And Brandon [Cantrell] wanted some weed too. But he didn't have enough. So I got a little bit of weed and I was supposed to be waiting on some more, but they was talking so long

and Clarence [Hush] was rushing me because he had to get his wife back her car.” App. 561, ll. 5-22. When Petitioner left, Weston remembered petitioner was “like normal.” App. 164, ll. 2-5.

Weston testified that petitioner came back a second time with “some different people in a different car.” App. 164, ll. 9-11. Weston said on this second trip: “I guess Onyx had got what he wanted and then as soon as he went outside, and the door closed we heard Nikki scream.” App. 167, ll. 2-4.

As will be seen infra, the police thought at first that petitioner was the shooter, but the solicitor later admitted the witnesses’ statements were littered with inconsistencies. The solicitor therefore sought to prove, by the time of trial, that petitioner was guilty as somehow participating under the “hand of one is the hand of all” principle of accomplice liability.

The evidence regarding the shooting was disputed. Tawanda “Nikki” Alston, the decedent’s girlfriend, said petitioner was a friend of hers and a friend of the decedent. App. 245, l. 7 – 246, l. 15. She said petitioner returned that night, as did Antoine “Ross” Aiken, the decedent’s son. According to Aiken, petitioner came back for a third time about forty-five minutes to an hour later, and he knocked on the door. App. 193, ll. 19-24.

Aiken said petitioner was in a good mood and joking. Aiken said petitioner didn’t stay long, about five minutes, and left. The decedent walked behind petitioner and locked the door. App. 197, l. 18 – 198, l. 19. Aiken said that the decedent went into a laundry room, and “I mean that’s when we heard the first gunshot. And then as he hit the corner somebody -- he met somebody, the fellow -- the tall, slim fellow wearing all black.” App. 198, ll. 17-24. The man wearing all black also was wearing a ski mask. App. 199, l. 8 – 201, l. 14.

Aiken guessed that it was “probably about ten seconds” later, after petitioner went out the back door that all of the “activity took place in the laundry room with the tall, thin guy with the mask.” App. 201, ll. 9-14.

Aiken ran out the front door and into the woods. While in the woods, Aiken claimed he recognized petitioner’s voice yelling: “Go to the back room, everything’s in the back room.” App. 201, l. 15 – 202, l. 7.

When Aiken called 911 for the injured decedent, he gave them a false name, Ray. App. 206, ll. 3-16. During Aiken’s first interview with the police he did not claim petitioner was involved. In his second interview, after talking with others, he maintained petitioner was involved. At trial, Aiken claimed he was going to take care of petitioner personally, so that was why he did tell the police petitioner was allegedly involved. App. 210, l. 9 – 213, l. 10

As stated, petitioner testified in his own defense. Petitioner admitted visiting the decedent’s house twice on January 23, 2012 to buy marijuana. App. 558, l. 3 – 565, l. 8. Petitioner did not have transportation, and he remembered that the men, petitioner, Clarence Hull, and Brandon Camtrell stopped at a BP station on the way home, and got gas and cigars. “They dropped me off first, and then they dropped Brandon off second. And then I guess Clarence went home.” App. 560, l. 8 - 565, l. 17.

Petitioner testified that once he was dropped off that night that he stayed with his girlfriend Amber Wylie at home. Petitioner said he watched ESPN for a while, and since it was late, he did not feel like smoking so he just went to bed, and got up the next morning. App. 565, ll. 3-8.

Amber Wiley told law enforcement that petitioner was indeed with her the entire evening, and that he was still at home the following morning, which would have corroborated petitioner’s

alibi defense. Petitioner, consistent with his alibi defense, obviously denied being present and having shot the decedent. App. 578, l. 17 – 579, l. 3. Although Amber’s testimony would have corroborated petitioner’s alibi testimony, and would have greatly aided petitioner’s alibi defense, it was not needed to simply get an alibi instruction as shown infra.

Post-Conviction Relief Facts

At the PCR hearing, defense counsel Martha Kent Runey testified that at the preliminary hearing the police officer testified and claimed petitioner was the shooter. App. 716, ll. 11-23. Runey guessed that this officer was relying on Tawanna “Nikki” Alston, who was present at the time of the confusing shooting. App. 716, l. 24 – 717, l. 6.

Runey said that the assistant solicitor later admitted that “the stories of some of the witnesses don’t match up, particularly, Ms. Alston and a witness with the last name Aiken.” The state then changed its theory of the case to “the hand of one is the hand of all” from petitioner allegedly being the shooter. App. 719, l. 15 – 720, l. 12.

Petitioner testified at the PCR hearing that he was very shocked because all of the discovery, and the testimony at the preliminary hearing, claimed he was the shooter. App. 749, l. 4 – 750, l. 19. Petitioner said the state’s case seemed to be in such chaos that he did not think “there was going to be a trial.” App. 749, l. 23 – 750, l. 19.

Runey admitted she did not recall ever discussing “the hand of one is the hand of all” new theory with petitioner after the solicitor changed her theory because of inconsistencies in alleged “eyewitness” testimony. App. 721, ll. 7-13; App. 744, ll. 3-9.

Runey said she did not remember if a jury instruction on alibi was given during petitioner’s trial. App. 731, ll. 19-21. However, she later claimed, there was no reason to ask for an instruction on alibi because “I didn’t have contact or was able to interview the people that

could have been possible alibi witnesses.” App. 742, l. 19 – 743, l. 4. The issue of Amber Wiley being an alibi witness is discussed below. However, Counsel Runey strangely said she did not “put up any alibi witnesses,” as if petitioner’s testimony did not count to her as alibi testimony.” App. 742, l. 19 – 743, l. 4. The trial judge did not charge the jury on alibi. App. 649, l. 21 – 663, l. 17.

In the order of dismissal, the judge noted that petitioner alleged his attorney was ineffective for failing to present an alibi defense, call witnesses in support of an alibi defense, and the failure to request an alibi instruction. App. 785 – 786. The order noted that counsel Runey testified that an investigator spoke with Amber Wiley, who had previously given an alibi statement for petitioner to the police. App. 785.

Citing State v. Robbins, 275 S.C. 373, 375, 271 S.E.2d 319, 320 (1980), the judge wrote “to be successful, a defendant’s alibi must cover the entire time when his presence was required for the accomplishment of the crime . . . since an alibi derives its potency as a defense from the fact that it involves physical impossibility of the accused’s guilt, a purported alibi which leaves it possible for the accused to be the guilty person is no alibi at all.” App. 785.

Discussion

In Roseboro v. State 317 S.C. 292, 454 S.E.2d 312 (1995), this Court found defense counsel was ineffective for failing to request an alibi instruction. In Roseboro, the victim testified she was walking home from a bar when she was struck from behind and lost consciousness. When she regained consciousness, a man was straddling her, and he raped her. The victim was unable to identify her assailant, who wore a dark jacket and a toboggan hat and had had hair on his face.

The circumstantial evidence against Roseboro showed he earlier approached the victim at the bar and attempted to talk to her. She rebuffed his advances. He was wearing a toboggan hat, a dark jacket, and had a light beard. Forensic testing from the rape indicated Roseboro had Type A blood. From the semen on the victim's clothing, the assailant was identified as either Type A or Type B blood type.

Roseboro denied being at the bar at any time that night. He left his mother's house at 11:45 pm and walked to the home of his friend, Ray Miller, where he watched a basketball game until 1:00 a.m. and then was driven home. Miller testified and corroborated Roseboro's testimony.

This Court, in Roseboro, noted that in Ford v. State, 314 S.C. 245, 442 S.E.2d 604 (1994), it had held that trial counsel's failure to request an alibi charge is deficient performance where there is evidence presented the defendant was in another place at the time the crime was committed. Moreover, counsel must articulate a valid reason for employing a certain strategy to avoid a finding of ineffectiveness. Underwood v. State, 309 S.C. 560, 452 S.E.2d 20 (1992).

An alibi charge places no burden on the criminal defendant but emphasizes that it is the state's burden to prove the defendant was present and participated in the crime. See State v. Bealin, 201 S.C. 450, 23 S.E.2d 746 (1943).

Here, appellant testified in his own defense that he was dropped off by his friends after an uneventful night that did involve visiting the decedent's house, and attempting to buy drugs. Petitioner spent the night with his girlfriend, Amber, he watched ESPN for a while, and went to bed. The next morning, petitioner and Amber had a court hearing in summary court that they attended together. App. 564, l. 25- 565, l. 11.

In Riddle v. State, 308 S.C. 361, 418 S.E.2d 308 (1992), this Court similarly found defense counsel ineffective for failing to request an alibi instruction. Riddle was tried for first degree burglary and ABHAN where the victim, who was his neighbor testified she awoke in the early morning hours when she felt someone fondling her. She saw her neighbor, Riddle, at the foot of her bed. Riddle left, but only after the victim promised not to tell his Riddle's wife, the landlord, or the police, about the encounter. Riddle testified that he was at home asleep with his wife the entire night, and his wife corroborated that testimony. In Riddle, defense counsel told the trial judge she did not think an alibi instruction was necessary. At PCR, however, counsel testified that alibi was their trial defense. Counsel was held ineffective.

The failure to give an alibi charge, where the defendant claims to be at another place, is a reversible error. See State v. Robbins, 275 S.C. 73, 271 S.E.2d 319 (1980) cited by the PCR court here.

In State v. Robbins, 275 S.C. 373, 271 S.E.2d 319 (1980), Robbins was indicted for robbing a store. Robbins testified he had been at the store that night, but his further testimony was to the effect that he had been to the store prior to taking his wife to work at 10:00. It was also Robbins' testimony that after taking his wife to work, he went straight home and accordingly he was not at the store when the robbery is alleged to have occurred at about 10:45 pm. This Court noted that alibi means *elsewhere*, and while a general denial of committing the crime does not require an alibi instruction, that Robbins was entitled to such an alibi instruction because *his sworn testimony* was that he was elsewhere at the time of the crime.

Here, much as in Robbins, as seen above, petitioner testified he was dropped off by friends at the home he shared with Amber Wiley. Petitioner provided testimony that he was elsewhere, at home, and with Amber at the time the state submitted the crime was committed.

The *elsewhere* provided by petitioner's testimony was that he was with friends that night, nothing eventful happened, and he was dropped off where he spent the remainder of the night at home with his girlfriend Amber Wiley.

If Runey had requested an alibi instruction, the trial judge would have had to give it. This alibi instruction would have been important because otherwise the jury here had no guidance on to process conflicting testimony trying to convict petitioner under the complex "hand of one is the hand of all" legal theory against his own alibi testimony that he was at home with Amber that night, and that they went to summary court when they both awoke the next morning.

The jury needed clear instructions that alibi had been raised, that it was not petitioner's burden to prove his alibi, and that the state had to prove petitioner's presence at the scene of the crime. See State v. McGhee, 137 S.C. 256, 135 S.E. 59 (1926). At that point the jury could begin to process the complicated accomplice liability instruction as it pertained to the state's new theory of the case – if it thought it necessary at that point.

Defense counsel in this case was ineffective for failing to request an alibi instruction. Counsel's performance was deficient, and petitioner was prejudiced. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Petitioner should be granted a new trial.

The PCR court erred by finding that defense counsel did not think that Amber Wiley's statement that she was with petitioner, at home, on the night of the murder constituted an alibi, since there was no evidence to support that finding, and where it was undisputed Wiley provided law enforcement with that alibi statement, since counsel was ineffective in not taking reasonable efforts to subpoena Wiley to ensure her presence as an alibi witness at petitioner's trial.

Here, the PCR court incorrectly found that Amber Wiley's testimony would not establish an alibi and for that reason, and because she was uncooperative, defense counsel "elected not to call her as a witness." App. 786. That was an incorrect finding, as there is no support in the record for the conclusion that Runey did not think Amber Wiley's testimony would establish an alibi. Counsel Runey, was respectfully wrong in many respects as it pertained to alibi, but she did know that Amber's testimony would have been alibi testimony the same as Amber's statement to law enforcement was an alibi statement.

Runey admitted there was exculpatory alibi evidence in this case that was not heard by the jury: "Sophie Wiley lived with James Rose and his girlfriend Amber Wiley and her husband Matt Wiley. What her statement does say is she was home with Matt Wiley and she was getting ready to go out of town. So they were in the room watching TV the night of the incident." Amber Wiley also gave a statement indicating she was home with petitioner on the night of the incident. "She took a shower and took Tylenol PM and went to bed. And then when she woke up the next morning, James was there." App. 723, ll. 6-24.

Runey admitted that Amber Wiley gave the police a statement that petitioner was with her on the night of the fatal incident. Runey claimed "we tried to" serve Amber Wiley with a subpoena. Runey also acknowledged that if Amber testified differently during trial -- than she

did in her alibi statement -- that Runey could have impeached Amber with her statement to the police that provided petitioner with an alibi. The following occurred on direct examination of Runey at the PCR hearing:

Q. So she would have been exposed to a criminal sanction, supposedly, if she had given a false statement to the police?

A. She could.

Q. And that was a witness then that the State could have called to testify as an alibi witness?

A. The defense, could be.

Q. Excuse me. The defense could have called her as an alibi witness; is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And was it a trial strategy reason for not calling her?

A. I couldn't get her to respond to me. So I couldn't even talk to her to see what she would say if she did get on the stand. I'm not going to call somebody until I talk to them.

Q. Did your investigator talk with her?

A. She wouldn't cooperate. It looks like he talked to her about serving the subpoena on her, but he couldn't track her down.

App. 726, ll. 1-20.

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