ALAN WILSON  
ATTORNEY GENERAL

December 27, 2018

RECEIVED  
DEC 27 2018  
S.C. SUPREME COURT

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

I. **Whether the PCR court properly found trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to request an alibi jury charge is not preserved for appellate review, and trial counsel articulated a reasonable strategy for not requesting the charge?**

Rose argues the PCR court erred by ruling trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to request an alibi charge. The Court should deny certiorari on this issue because the issue is not preserved for appellate review. However, even if this argument was preserved, trial counsel was not deficient for failing to request an alibi charge because trial counsel reasonably determined not to request an alibi charge because the defense offered no corroborating alibi witnesses. Rose was not prejudiced by trial counsel failing to request an alibi charge because the trial court's charge on determining credibility was sufficient. The jury received a credibility charge, and weighed the witnesses' testimonies accordingly.

a. **Preservation**

As an initial matter, whether the PCR court erred in finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to request an alibi charge is not preserved for appellate review.

“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial [court].” *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693–94 (2003). A PCR court’s order must “make specific findings of fact and state expressly the conclusions of law relating to each issue presented.” *Marlar v. State*, 375 S.C. 407, 408, 653 S.E.2d 266, 266 (2007). “[A]fter an order is filed, [PCR counsel] has an obligation to review the order and file a Rule 59(e), SCRCPP, motion to alter or amend if the order fails to set forth the findings and the reasons for those findings as required by [section] 17-27-80 [of the South Carolina Code] and Rule 52(a), SCRCPP.” *Pruitt v. State*, 310 S.C. 254, 256, 423 S.E.2d 127, 128 (1992). “[A] Rule 59(e) motion must be filed if issues are not adequately addressed in order to preserve the issues for appellate review.” *Marlar*, 375 S.C. at 410, 653 S.E.2d at 267. “An issue that was not preserved for review should not be addressed by [appellate courts].” *Dunbar*, 356 S.C. at 142, 587 S.E.2d at 694.

Rose states the PCR court noted that he “alleged his attorney was ineffective for failing to . . . request an alibi instruction.” (Pet. 8). Rose also states:

Citing *State v. Robbins*, 275 S.C. 373, 375, 271 S.E.2d 319, 320 (1980), *the judge wrote* “to be successful, a defendant's alibi must cover the entire time when his presence was required for the accomplishment of the crime . . . since an alibi derives its potency as a defense from the fact that it involves physical impossibility of the accused's guilt, a purported alibi which leaves it possible for the accused to be the guilty person is no alibi at all.”

(Pet. 8) (emphasis added). This is a mischaracterization of the PCR court’s order. The PCR court did not write the above quoted material and cite to *Robbins*; rather, the PCR court quoted the language from *Robbins* for general provisions of law pertaining to an alibi defense. *See Robbins*, 275 S.C. at 375, 271 S.E.2d at 320 (quoting 21 Am.Jur.2d Criminal Law § 136); (App. 785).

Whether trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request an alibi instruction was raised to the PCR court; however, the PCR court did not rule on this issue. (App. 785–86). Rose did not make a motion to alter or amend the PCR court’s order. Therefore, the issue is not preserved for appellate review. Certiorari should be denied.

**b. Merits**

Rose’s argument, that trial counsel was ineffective for failure to request an alibi charge, fails on the merits because trial counsel did not request an alibi charge because the defense did not call any corroborating alibi witnesses. As explained in section II below, trial counsel articulated a reasonable strategy for not calling any corroborating alibi witnesses. Trial counsel was not deficient for failing to request an alibi charge, and Rose suffered no prejudice from trial counsel not requesting the charge. The Court should deny certiorari as to this issue.

“[T]he trial [court] is required to charge only the current and correct law . . . and the law to be charged to the jury is determined by the evidence at trial.” *State v. Taylor*, 356 S.C. 227, 231, 589 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2003) (internal citations omitted). “[A] trial court commits reversible error if it fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence.” *State v. Hill*, 315 S.C. 260, 262, 433 S.E.2d 848, 849 (1993). Jury instructions should be considered as a whole. *State v. Smith*, 315 S.C. 547, 554, 446 S.E.2d 411, 415 (1994).

“A charge on the defense of alibi is not required when an accused person merely denies committing the criminal act.” *State v. Robbins*, 275 S.C. 373, 375, 271 S.E.2d 319, 320 (1980). “Alibi means elsewhere, and the charge should be given when the accused submits that he could not have performed the criminal act because he was in another place at the time of its commission.” *Id.*

“[F]ailure to request an alibi charge is deficient representation where there is evidence presented the defendant was in another place at the time the crime was committed.” *Roseboro v.*

*State*, 317 S.C. 292, 294, 454 S.E.2d 312, 313 (1995). Trial counsel must articulate a valid reason for not requesting an alibi instruction to avoid a finding of deficiency. *Id.* “An alibi charge places no burden on a criminal defendant but emphasizes that it is the State's burden to prove the defendant was present and participated in the crime.” *Id.*

On appeal, Rose does not allege trial counsel was ineffective in relation to the trial court charging the jury on accomplice liability. Because it is unchallenged, the trial court's charge on accomplice liability is proper and is the law of the case. As such, the trial court properly charged accomplice liability, and the State had to prove Rose was sufficiently present, not actually present, at the time of the incident. See *State v. Blackwell*, 220 S.C. 342, 67 S.E.2d 684 (1951) (affirming a guilty verdict when the defendant planned the commission of the crime with others and waited out of town during the commission of the crime by the physical perpetrators); *State v. Chavis*, 277 S.C. 521, 290 S.E.2d 412 (1982) (affirming a guilty verdict under accomplice liability where the defendant met with three other men to plan a robbery, supplied two of them with masks, guns, and gloves, and drove them to the scene and then left).

Rose argues the evidence presented at trial supports an alibi charge. Specifically, Rose argues that his testimony at trial—that he never returned to the house a third time but was dropped off at his girlfriend's house and went to sleep—supports the trial court giving an alibi charge. Rose likens his case to *Roseboro v. State*, 317 S.C. 292, 454 S.E.2d 312 (1995), and *Riddle v. State*, 308 S.C. 361, 418 S.E.2d 308 (1992). However, Rose's reliance on these two cases is misplaced.

The instant case is distinguishable from *Roseboro* and *Riddle*, because in those cases, the defendants' alibi testimonies were corroborated by additional alibi witnesses. *Roseboro*, 317 S.C. at 294, 454 S.E.2d at 313; *Riddle*, 308 S.C. at 363, 418 S.E.2d at 309. Here, there was no such

corroborating alibi witness. Trial counsel testified that she did not request an alibi charge because the defense did not present any alibi witnesses.

At the PCR hearing, trial counsel explained her trial strategy as follows:

Our theory was that Mr. Rose had been at this house earlier that day, but he never came back. And the State alleged that he had come back and this is when this incident occurred. But Mr. Rose testified, and he told the jury that he had been there. He knew the victims. He knew the people there, but he had not come back.

(App. 742). When asked whether she felt there was a valid alibi defense available, trial counsel explained, “Not from the [potential witnesses] I had talked to. I didn’t have contact or was able to interview the [potential witnesses] that could have been possible alibi witnesses.” (App. 742). Trial counsel stated that she did not ask for an alibi charge because the defense did not put up any alibi witnesses. (App. 743).

There is evidence to support an alibi jury charge; however, trial counsel stated she did not request the charge because the defense did not produce any alibi witnesses. Rose makes much of this statement. However, it can reasonably be inferred that trial counsel did not request the charge because the defense did not present any *corroborating* alibi witnesses. Trial counsel’s reasoning for not requesting an alibi charge was reasonable because there was no corroborating alibi testimony. Trial counsel was not deficient for failing to request an alibi jury charge.

As for prejudice, Rose was not prejudiced by trial counsel’s alleged deficiency because overall, the trial court’s charge was proper. “In evaluating whether a PCR applicant has suffered prejudice as a result of a jury charge, the jury charge must be viewed ‘in its entirety and not in isolation.’” *State v. Gibbs*, 403 S.C. 484, 495, 744 S.E.2d 170, 176 (2013) (quoting *Battle v. State*, 382 S.C. 197, 203, 675 S.E.2d 736, 739 (2009)).

The trial court’s jury charge can be found at pages 649–63 in the Appendix. The trial court charged the jury on assessing credibility:

The credibility of witnesses is a matter for you the jury to determine. You are the judges and the sole judges of the credibility or believability of the witnesses who have testified and the evidence in this case. In passing upon credibility you may take into consideration many things such as the demeanor or the manner of the witness testifying, whether a witness had a reason to be biased or prejudiced in some way, whether a witness's testimony was contradict[ed] on the one hand or supported and corroborated on the other hand, whether a particular witness has a motive to testify favorably for one party versus the other. You may believe a small portion of a witness's testimony and disregard the larger or vice versa. You may believe one witness against many or many against one. All of these things you will consider bearing in mind that you should give the benefit of any reasonable doubt. It becomes your duty as jurors to analyze and to evaluate the evidence and determine that evidence which convinces you of its truth.

(App. 650–51). The trial court charged the jury on: the State's burden of proof (App. 653–55), evidence of prior bad acts can only be used to impeach the witness (App. 655), the elements of murder (App. 655–57), and the law of accomplice liability (App. 557–60).

Even though trial counsel did not request an alibi jury charge, Rose's testimony, that he was not present when the incident occurred, ultimately was a credibility determination for the jury. The trial court properly charged the jury on issues of credibility; therefore, Rose was not prejudiced by the jury not receiving an alibi charge.

**II. Whether the PCR court properly found trial counsel was not ineffective in determining Rose's girlfriend's statement to the police did not constitute an alibi and she did not testify at the PCR hearing?**

Rose argues Amber Wiley's testimony at trial could have corroborated his testimony that he was at home when the incident occurred. Rose cannot prove he was prejudiced by trial counsel failing to call Amber Wiley, because Wiley was not present to testify at his PCR hearing. Certiorari should be denied because Rose cannot establish he was prejudiced. However, even if Amber Wiley had testified at the PCR hearing, trial counsel was not deficient for failing to call her

as a witness because Wiley gave conflicting statements to the police, and would not cooperate with trial counsel.

When an applicant alleges counsel was ineffective for failing to present an alibi witness, counsel has a reasonable duty to investigate alibi witnesses identified by a defendant, and the failure to make some effort to contact them to ascertain whether their testimony would aid the defense is unreasonable. *Walker v. State*, 407 S.C. 400, 405, 756 S.E.2d 144, 147 (2014) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 691; *Grooms v. Solem*, 923 F.2d 88, 90 (8th Cir.1991)). Moreover, when an applicant claims counsel was ineffective for failing to call an alibi witness at trial, the applicant must present the witness at the evidentiary hearing to establish his requisite burden of proof. *See Glover v. State*, 318 S.C. 496, 498–99, 458 S.E.2d 538, 540 (1995) (“In order to support a claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to interview or call potential alibi witnesses, a PCR applicant must produce the witnesses at the PCR hearing or otherwise introduce the witnesses’ testimony in a manner consistent with the rules of evidence. The applicant’s mere speculation what the witnesses’ testimony would have been cannot, by itself, satisfy the applicant’s burden of showing prejudice.”).

Trial counsel was not deficient because she articulated a reasonable strategy for not presenting Wiley as an alibi witness. Trial counsel testified she used an investigator that spoke with Amber Wiley, who had previously given a statement to law enforcement and was included in discovery materials, but that Wiley was uncooperative, denied being home on the night in question, and refused to cooperate. (App. 724–26). Additionally, trial counsel testified Amber Wiley’s original statement to law enforcement indicated she had taken a Tylenol PM at approximately 11:00 p.m. and then went to bed shortly thereafter. (App. 738–39). Trial counsel testified she

ultimately elected not to call Amber Wiley as a witness because of her conflicting statements and refusal to cooperate with defense counsel. (App. 726).

Here, trial counsel investigated the purported alibi witness identified by Rose, and after obtaining a second statement from the witness and determining she was uncooperative, trial counsel elected not to call Amber Wiley as a witness. Rose argues that trial counsel should have called Amber Wiley as a defense alibi witness because of the statement Wiley gave to the police. Rose argues that if Wiley tried to change her testimony at trial, the trial counsel could have, and should have impeached her own witness with the police statement. This argument seems illogical to call a witness in Rose's defense, and then impeach that witness. The unreasonableness of the argument is expounded when Rose's alibi defense rested on his, and any alibi witness's credibility.


Trial counsel's strategy not to present a questionably credible, uncooperative alibi witness was reasonable. Therefore, trial counsel was not deficient. Additionally, Rose failed to present testimony from Wiley at the hearing, and, therefore, cannot meet his requisite burden of proof of establishing any purported prejudice. *See Glover*, 318 S.C. at 498–99, 458 S.E.2d at 540 (“In order to support a claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to interview or call potential alibi witnesses, a PCR applicant must produce the witnesses at the PCR hearing or otherwise introduce the witnesses' testimony in a manner consistent with the rules of evidence. The applicant's mere speculation what the witnesses' testimony would have been cannot, by itself, satisfy the applicant's burden of showing prejudice.”). Rose argues that Amber Wiley's testimony at the PCR hearing is not needed because of the statement she originally gave to the police. However, this argument ignores the fact that Wiley gave a differing statement to trial counsel's investigator. The PCR court could not determine which statement Wiley gave was credible without having the ability to

observe her testify. Amber Wiley needed to testify at PCR for Rose to establish he was prejudiced by any alleged deficiency for failing to call her as an alibi witness.

Trial counsel was not deficient for reasonably deciding not to call a questionably credible and uncooperative alibi witness, Amber Wiley, and Rose cannot show he was prejudiced because Wiley did not testify at the PCR hearing as to which statement she gave was the truth; therefore, the PCR court properly denied relief as to this allegation. Certiorari should be denied.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument, trial counsel was not ineffective. Trial counsel did not render deficient performance, nor did Rose suffer prejudice from any of the alleged deficiencies. Therefore the State requests certiorari be denied.

  
for SAMUEL L. KEY  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, S.C 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

CERTIORARI TO CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Honorable William H. Seals Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2017-002052

---

JAMES R. ROSE,

PETITIONER

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

---